
   
 
 
 

AGENDA 
Regular Meeting  

 Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Wednesday, February 17, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room F 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
CALL TO ORDER: 
ROLL CALL: 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special 
Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater 
than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square 
foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette 
Lowell owner 
 

2. File #193; Apln #1571; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special 
Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to 
establish a 1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the property; Dana 
Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner 

 
3. File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; Special 

Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, retail and service businesses greater than 2,500 square feet; Section 
4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 7.3.G, coordinated sign theme standards; and Section 
9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; Steven Stang, applicant/owner 

 
4. File #8; Apln #1575; 110 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 36; Parcel 1010110; Zone B; Special 

Permits, Section 7.7.C, retaining walls; Section 6.2, flood plain management; and Section 9.1.A.1, 
Site Plan Modification; request to construct a new 10 foot high gravity retaining wall along Jim Brook; 
W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, applicants; W/S Peak Canton Properties, 
LLC c/o WS Asset Management, Inc., owners 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special 

Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater 
than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square 
foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette 
Lowell owner 
 

2. File #193; Apln #1571; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special 
Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to 
establish a 1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the property; Dana 
Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner 

 



3. File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; Special 
Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, retail and service businesses greater than 2,500 square feet; Section 
4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 7.3.G, coordinated sign theme standards; and Section 
9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; Steven Stang, applicant/owner 

 
4. File #8; Apln #1575; 110 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 36; Parcel 1010110; Zone B; Special 

Permits, Section 7.7.C, retaining walls; Section 6.2, flood plain management; and Section 9.1.A.1, 
Site Plan Modification; request to construct a new 10 foot high gravity retaining wall along Jim Brook; 
W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, applicants; W/S Peak Canton Properties, 
LLC c/o WS Asset Management, Inc., owners 

 
OLD BUSINESS:  
  
NEW BUSINESS:  
 
1. File #543; 169 and 177 Robin Drive; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcels 4580169 & 4580177; Zone R3; Lot Line 

Revision; Alford Associates, Inc., applicant; Robin Downey-Murphy, owner 
 

2. Pre-Application Review; 50 Old River Road; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 4060050; Zone MCPF; 
discussion of redevelopment concepts for the Town Garage; Town of Canton, applicant/owner 

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Review minutes of the January 19, 2016 regular meeting 

2. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations 

3. Discussion of Design Regulations 

4. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite 

5. Discussion of Electronic Message Board Signs  

6. Staff Reports: 

a. Town Planner’s Report 

b. ZEO Report 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 



1

AGENDA
WORKING NOTES

Regular Meeting
Canton Planning and Zoning Commission

Wednesday, February 17, 2016 at 7:30 pm
Community Center, Room F
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT

CALL TO ORDER:
Call to order the Regular Meeting of the Canton Planning and Zoning Commission, February 17, 2016 at
____ PM

ROLL CALL:
Commissioners Present are: _________________.
Commissioners Absent are: _________________.

David Bondanza –Regular Member
Jonathan Thiesse – Regular Member
Phil Pane – Regular Member
David Evens – Regular Member
John Huyghebaert – Regular Member
*Keith August – Regular Member
Lans Perry – Regular Member
David Freeman – Alternate Member
Bill Sarmuk – Alternate Member
Vacant – Alternate Member

*members indicated they will be absent

A quorum of the Commission is present?
(If a Regular Member is absent: “Mr. _______ is hereby seated for Mr. __________.”)

Modification of Agenda
Suggest moving New Business Item #2 to the top of the agenda.

READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE:

Remarks by Chair Re: Meeting Conduct

PUBLIC HEARINGS

1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special
Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater
than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square
foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette
Lowell owner

___ Commissioners Seated 1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________,

4.______________, 5._____________, 6._____________, 7._____________

___ Alternates Seated a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom



2

The Public Hearing was opened in November and continued to December. At the December
meeting the applicant granted an extension under CGS 8-7d to allow the hearing to remain open
to January 19

th
, 2016. At that meeting an additional extension was granted to the February 17

th

meeting. Remaining statutory time could extend the hearing to February 26, 2016.

At the time Working Notes was drafted the applicant has not responded to several inquiries from
the Land Use Office requesting materials to address the outstanding items identified in the
October 21, 2015 staff report and raised during the proceeding.

Additional information is required to be submitted 10 days in advance of the meeting per Section
9.1.A 7 and 8. In lieu of an extension, or the willingness of a special meeting, or the willingness
to accept additional information with less than 10 days of lead time, the Commission must close
the hearing this evening. If the hearing is closed the Commission may deliberate for 65 days
(March 24, 2016). However with the remaining outstanding information not being submitted
(please see the October 21, 2015 staff report) the Commission would likely be required to deny
the application.

Suggested Motion:

Motion: to Close the public hearing for File #379; Apln. #1559.

A motion is made,
is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

2. File #193; Apln #1571; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special
Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to
establish a 1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the property; Dana
Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner

___ Commissioners Seated 1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________,

4.______________, 5._____________, 6._____________, 7._____________

___ Alternates Seated a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom

The Public Hearing opens this evening. This application was submitted on December 28, 2015,
received by the Commission on January 19

th
, 2016 and scheduled for a public hearing to be

opened on February 17
th
. As a special permit application a hearing is required. The Commission

has 35 days to close the hearing (March 23, 2016). The applicant is unable to attend due to a
motor vehicle accident.

There is no formal staff report for this application. The applicant proposes to address a violation
identified (self-raised) during the most recent proceeding on this property by the submission of
this application. The applicant has recently installed an outdoor seasonal display area on the
south side of the green house approved by the Commission in December 2015. Staff reviewed
the criteria of Section 7.10.B Outdoor Display with the applicant and found no concerns based on
the historical layout of the property and flow of pedestrian traffic as the site presently functions.

Suggested Motion:

Motion: to Close the public hearing for File #193; Apln. #1571.

A motion is made,
is there a second?



3

All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

3. File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; Special
Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, retail and service businesses greater than 2,500 square feet; Section
4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 7.3.G, coordinated sign theme standards; and Section
9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; Steven Stang, applicant/owner

___ Commissioners Seated 1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________,

4.______________, 5._____________, 6._____________, 7._____________

___ Alternates Seated a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom

The Public Hearing opens this evening. This application was submitted on January 28, 2016, and
was submitted with sufficient time for the legal notices to run, for the application to be received
and the hearing opened this evening. As a special permit application a hearing is required. The
Commission has 35 days to close the hearing (March 23, 2016).

There is no formal staff report for this application. The applicant has recently acquired 175 Albany
Turnpike (“the Hinmann property”) and proposes (work already underway) to clean up the site.
The applicant intends to remove several dilapidated greenhouses and buildings/ structures as
shown in the submitted site plan. The applicant owns adjoining properties to the east that will be
connected to this property. After improvements at 175 Albany Turnpike are approved the entire
“complex” of properties from 163 – 175 Albany Turnpike could be treated as one consolidated site
plan (similar to the Conceptual Example shown on Page 45 of the 2014 POCD Strategic Plan).

While certain activities and uses occurred on the premises over the years, it is not clear the
extent that they received zoning approval, or are considered business district uses. Previous
retail and display activity on the site occurred under regulations that allowed agricultural uses as
of right within business districts. The applicant wishes to remove any obscurity over allowed uses
through this application and seeks approval of retail and service uses over 2,500 sf.

The applicant further wishes to establish outdoor display and parking area allowances and
demarcations.

The applicant further wishes to seek approval of a unified signage theme. The properties owned
by the applicant to the east have a particular style of signage that pre-date current signage
standards. The signage theme is proposed to allow the applicant to add one sign to 175 Albany
Turnpike that match two others installed along the complex’s frontage.

The Commission may wish to seek clarification or additional details on the following:
o Dimensions, materials, etc for the proposed signage theme
o Demarcation of limits and quantification of parking
o Demarcation of limits and use of outdoor display areas
o Limits of retail and service uses allowed over 2,500 sf
o Access management changes as part of the new site plan operation.

Suggested Motions:

Motion: to Continue the public hearing for File #140; Apln. #1574.
Or

Motion: to Close the public hearing for File #140; Apln. #1574.

A motion is made,



4

is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

4. File #8; Apln #1575; 110 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 36; Parcel 1010110; Zone B; Special
Permits, Section 7.7.C, retaining walls; Section 6.2, flood plain management; and Section 9.1.A.1,
Site Plan Modification; request to construct a new 10 foot high gravity retaining wall along Jim Brook;
W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, applicants; W/S Peak Canton Properties,
LLC c/o WS Asset Management, Inc., owners

___ Commissioners Seated 1.__________, 2.____________, 3.____________,

4.______________, 5._____________, 6._____________, 7._____________

___ Alternates Seated a._____________, b._______________, c._____________, and for whom

The Public Hearing opens this evening. This application was submitted on January 28, 2016, and
was submitted with sufficient time for the legal notices to run and for the application to be
received and the hearing opened this evening. As a special permit application a hearing is
required. The Commission has 35 days to close the hearing (March 23, 2016).

There is no formal staff report for this application.

Please see the January 14, 2016 Wetlands Permit for regulated activity associated with this
application.

Please see the review comments from the Project Administrator

On February 2, the applicant was contacted and asked to provide a summary of how this
proposal meets the flood plain management criteria of Section 6.2. It was also requested that the
plans be updated to show the real boundary of the flood plain based on the new topography of
the site (post Shoppes construction). The mapped boundary shown is no longer accurate based
on the post fill conditions. No response has been received.

As part of an explanation to Project Administrator comments on flood storage, the applicant has
presented that substantial cuts occurred during initial Shoppes construction. Those cuts were of a
volume far greater than what was necessary to accommodate the fill occurring at that time
(possibly in anticipation of additional development in the future). This should be closely
considered to ensure appropriate action occurs under current flood plain standards.

Suggested Motions:

Motion: to Continue the public hearing for File #8; Apln. #1575.

Or

Motion: to Close the public hearing for File #8; Apln. #1575.

A motion is made,
is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails



5

REGULAR MEETING

PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS:

1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special
Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater
than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square
foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette
Lowell owner

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion?

Suggested motion: Moved that the Commission hereby denies File #379, Apln. #1559; 301
Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special Exception; Section
4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater than 2,500
square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square foot
dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette
Lowell owner.

This denial is made, in part, on the basis of, and the Commission’s reliance upon, the application
form dated October 11, 2015; information received at a public hearing commenced on November
18, 2015, continued to December 16, 2015, continued to January 19, 2016, continued to
February 17, 2016 closed on that date; and upon the following documentation submitted by the
Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on the application:

List of Drawings

1. Sheet 1; Map of Existing Conditions; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney,
Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015

2. Sheet 2; Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting
Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015

3. Sheet 3; Site Grading and Utilities Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney,
Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015

4. Sheet 4; Elevations; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by D. Tarinelli Architect; Prepared for
Kym Nash; Dated August 31, 2015

5. Sheet 5; Ground Floor Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by D. Tarinelli Architect;
Prepared for Kym Nash; Dated August 31, 2015

6. Sheet 6; Map of Existing Conditions; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney,
Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015

7. Sheet 7; Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting
Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015

8. Sheet 8; Site Grading and Utilities Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney,
Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015

9. Sheet 9; Alternate Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney,
Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated October 7, 2015

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany
Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special Exception; Section
4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater than 2,500
square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square foot
dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette
Lowell owner

2. Copy of Payment; Check #200



6

3. Assessor’s Card for 301 Albany Turnpike; Parcel 1010301
4. List of Abutters within 100 feet
5. Copy of the abutter notice sent to neighboring properties on September 21, 2015 notifying

them of the upcoming Public Hearing on October 21, 2015
6. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning

Regulations; dated 9/21/15
7. Proof of Certified Mailing from the Hartford Courant; dated October 1, 2015
8. Email from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding soil tests at 301 Albany Turnpike; dated

October 13, 2015
9. Email from David Whitney to Renee Narducci regarding revised plans; dated October 14,

2015
10. Email from David Whitney to Renee Narducci regarding a letter with additional information for

the proposed Dance Studio; dated October 14, 2015
11. Letter from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding additional information for the proposed

Dance Studio; dated October 12, 2015
12. Application review comments from Police Chief Christopher Arciero; received October 14,

2015
13. Application review comments from Fire Marshal Tim Tharau; received October 15, 2015
14. Certified mail receipts
15. Agenda for the October 21, 2015 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission
16. Email from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding the postponement for the opening of the

public hearing; dated October 19, 2015
17. Letter from David Whitney to Neil Pade formally requesting the postponement for the opening

of the public hearing to the next regularly scheduled meeting on November 18, 2015; dated
October 19, 2015

18. Notice of hearing postponement for File #379; Apln #1559; placed at entrance of Room F
prior to meeting

19. Email from George Wallace to Neil Pade regarding his preliminary review of this application;
dated October 21, 2015

20. October 21, 2015 memorandum from Neil S. Pade AICP to the Planning and Zoning
Commission

21. Draft minutes from the October 21, 2015 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning
Commission

22. Email from David Markowitz to Neil Pade regarding the easement and deed for 301 Albany
Turnpike; dated October 23, 2015

23. Warranty Deed for 301 Albany Turnpike; Volume #299, Page #1002; dated October 2, 2003
24. Driveway Easement for 301 Albany Turnpike; Volume #315, Page #265; dated August 4,

2004
25. Letter from David Markowitz to Neil Pade regarding the proposed Dance Studio; received via

email; dated November 16, 2015
26. Description of the proposed dance studio, provided to the Commission by Kym Nash prior to

the Public Hearing on November 18, 2015
27. Draft minutes from the November 18, 2015 regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning

Commission
28. Consent for extension of statutory time (CGS, Chapter 8-7d) signed by Kym Nash; received

by the Land Use Office on December 1, 2015
29. Agenda for the 12/16/15 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission
30. Draft minutes from the 12/16/15 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission
31. Draft minutes from the 1/19/16 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission
32. Consent for extension of statutory time (CGS, Chapter 8-7d) signed by Kym Nash; received

by the Land Use Office on January 19, 2016

This application is denied in accordance with Section 9.1.A.11 and by the finding that the
application:

1. is incomplete;



7

2. fails to provide information necessary for the Commission to review in order to
determine compliance with the regulations;

3. does not meet the requirements of the regulations as documented in the October
21, 2015 staff report; and

4. fails to address outstanding issues and concerns raised or otherwise discussed
during the public hearing that have not been addressed.

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

2. File #193; Apln #1571; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special
Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to
establish a 1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the property; Dana
Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion?

Suggested motion: Moved that the Commission hereby approves File #193, Apln. #1571; 465
Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f,
outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to establish a 1,050 (+/-)
square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the property; Dana Mathes, applicant; 465
Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner.

This approval with conditions and modifications is made, in part, on the basis of, and the
Commission’s reliance upon, the application form dated December 28, 2015; information received
at a public hearing commenced on February 17, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the
following documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the
proceedings on the application:

Drawings:

1. Sheet 1; Modified Plot Plan; 465 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney Consulting
Engineers, LLC; Prepared for 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC; Dated December 16, 2015

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning – Development Application for File #193; Apln #1571; 465
Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special Permit, Section
4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to establish a
1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the property; Dana Mathes,
applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner

2. Special Permit application checklist
3. Copy of payment; check # 3618
4. Copy of abutter notice; received by the Land Use Office on 12/30/15
5. Abutter list
6. January 13, 2016 memorandum from Neil S. Pade AICP to the Planning and Zoning

Commission
7. Draft minutes from the 1/19/16 regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission
8. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning

Regulations; dated 1/20/16
9. Public hearing sign affidavit; dated 1/20/16
10. Certified Mail receipts
11. Town of Canton legal notice



8

12. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant; dated 2/2/16

This approval is effective March 8, 2016 (20 Days from approval date) and UPON THE
RECORDING OF AN APPROVAL LETTER AND A CERTIFICATE OF ACTION WITH THE
TOWN CLERK.

The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications,
restrictions, and safeguards:

1.
2. Limited to ….
3. This approval shall be binding upon the Applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and

grantees.

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

3. File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; Special
Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, retail and service businesses greater than 2,500 square feet; Section
4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 7.3.G, coordinated sign theme standards; and Section
9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; Steven Stang, applicant/owner

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion?

There is no draft motion

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

4. File #8; Apln #1575; 110 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 36; Parcel 1010110; Zone B; Special
Permits, Section 7.7.C, retaining walls; Section 6.2, flood plain management; and Section 9.1.A.1,
Site Plan Modification; request to construct a new 10 foot high gravity retaining wall along Jim Brook;
W/S Peak Canton Properties, LLC c/o Denise Robidoux, applicants; W/S Peak Canton Properties,
LLC c/o WS Asset Management, Inc., owners

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion?

There is no draft motion

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

OLD BUSINESS:

None



9

NEW BUSINESS:

1. File #543; 169 and 177 Robin Drive; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcels 4580169 & 4580177; Zone R3; Lot Line
Revision; Alford Associates, Inc., applicant; Robin Downey-Murphy, owner

This application was approved on July 16, 2014, with conditions. The mylar was not filed within the
required statutory time frame. The applicant has resubmitted to start a new statutory clock and also
has updated the plans partially to comply with the 2014 conditions of approval.

The Commission should review the September 11, 2014 memo from the FVHD regarding sewage
disposal capabilities at 169 Robin Drive and determine if it is sufficient to meet Conditions #2c and
#2d of the July 16, 2014 approval.

___ Discussion
___ Do I have a motion?

The Canton Planning and Zoning Commission does hereby APPROVE File #543; 177 Robin
Drive (Lots 2 & 3); Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 4580177; Zone AR-3; Modification of Lot Lines;
Alford Associates, Inc., applicant; Robin Downey-Murphy, owner.

This approval is granted in accordance in accordance with the July 16, 2014 approval, inclusive
of all documents, exhibits, findings and conditions as stated on the July 22, 2014 approval letter.

This approval is also granted based on the following submitted with plan(s) entitled:

1. Lot Line revision; Prepared for Bing and Robin Murphy; Prepared by Alford
Associates, Inc.; Revised Date August 28, 2014 and such revisions to said plans as may
be required by this approval;

In addition to the above-referenced plans, this approval is granted in accordance with the
following documentation submitted by the applicant, or otherwise submitted to the Commission:

1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #543; 169 and 177 Robin
Drive; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcels 4580169 & 4580177; Zone R3; Lot Line Revision;
Alford Associates, Inc., applicant; Robin Downey-Murphy, owner

2. Copy of payment; check #21172
3. Copy of the approval letter for Referral #400; regarding the request to release an

easement for a temporary cul-de-sac located on Robin Drive; dated 6/30/14
4. Copy of the approval letter for File #543; 177 Robin Drive (Lots 2 & 3); Assessor’s Map 7;

Parcel 4580177; Zone AR-3; Resubdivision/Modification of Lot Lines/Release of
easement for a temporary cul-de-sac; Alford Associates, Inc., applicant; Robin Downey-
Murphy, owner; dated 7/22/14

5. Memo from the FVHD to Neil Pade regarding sewage disposal capabilities at 169 Robin
Drive; dated 9/11/14

This approval is effective March 8, 2016 and upon the recording of the final Mylar’s as required
below with the town clerk.

The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications,
restrictions, and safeguards:

1. The above-referenced plans, as modified by these conditions, shall be placed on Mylar, bear
all the conditions of all land use commissions, and stamped “APPROVED” and signed by
the Planning and Zoning Commission (PZC) on a Town approved signature block. Said plans
shall be filed by the applicant with the Town Planner and Town Clerk by June 6, 2016, which



10

is within 90 days of the effective date (anticipated expiration of the appeal period); The
applicant/ developer must provide one (1) fixed line Mylar, and two (2) paper copies of each
approved plan for signature by the Chairman and /or Secretary. Maps to be filed on the land
records of the Town Clerk must meet the following standards:

Must be produced by 1) wash-off photographic polyester film, 2) fixed line photographic
polyester film, 3) original ink drawing on polyester film or linen; the process used must be
certified by a stamp in red indelible ink, 1” x 2”, and include name of producer and process
used. Polyester films (“Mylar”) must be matte on at least one side. Maps shall be 24” x 36”.

2. The conditions of approval of the Commission July 16, 2014 approval are incorporated by
reference.

3. This approval shall be binding upon the applicant / developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees.

A motion is made, is there a second?
All in favor? All Opposed? Any Abstentions?
Motion passes / fails

2. Pre-Application Review; 50 Old River Road; Assessor’s Map 34; Parcel 4060050; Zone MCPF;
discussion of redevelopment concepts for the Town Garage; Town of Canton, applicant/owner

The Canton Department of Public Works will provide a 10 minute presentation. This will be an
informal (non-binding) review and discussion on proposed modifications of the existing highway
garage site. Of particular interest will be the standards of the MCPF District, Flood Plain
Management Standards, and interpretation of the POCD as it pertains to redevelopment within
the existing site.

OTHER BUSINESS:

1. Review minutes of the January 19, 2016 regular meeting

2. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations

3. Discussion of Design Regulations

Special meeting to continue, starting on Section 4, scheduled for 2/24/16

4. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite

A revised draft of the SR was sent by the consultant seeking staff review prior to distribution to
the Committee. 2/17/16 has been set aside for staff to review this draft and evaluate the extent
submitted comments have been addressed. An update of the Public Improvement Standards has
not been received.

5. Discussion of Electronic Message Board Signs

Owner of 41 Bridge Street would like to convert the existing message board sign to an electronic
message board sign in order to simplify the changing of message and promotion of venues. A
read of Section 7.3.B.3 indicates such a device would not be allowed. In subsequent discussions
with the owner, it was decided the Commission would be consulted on an interpretation of this
section and the Commission would be approached about the future possibility of such signs in
general.

6. Staff Reports:

a. Town Planner’s Report

• File #524; Shallot Meadow Road Acceptance Request – Withdrawn, with concerning
details.



11

• Commission Membership
• TIF Master Plan Initiative

b. ZEO Report

• 136 Dowd – Owner failed to install ADA sidewalk connection and painted cross walk
across property. This was missed at the CO inspection, but has been a subsequent
enforcement action. The owner wishes to put a request before the Commission to seek a
waiver of this requirement to provide access and modify the conditions of the approved
plan (that were specifically added to bring the plan into compliance).

ADJOURNMENT:































































 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION  

Canton, Connecticut   Inc. 1806 
4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 
 

 

TO:  Planning and Zoning Commission 

 

FROM:  Neil S. Pade, AICP, Director, Planning & Community Development 

 

CC:  Holden Nardini, Applicant 

  File #379, Apln. #1559 

 

SUBJECT: Staff Report - Request for Special Permit and Site Development Plan at 301 Albany 

Turnpike 

 

DATE:  October 21, 2015 

 

 

Proposal 

The applicant is proposing the conversion of 301 Albany Turnpike (presently a single family home 

located on a business zoned property) from a primary residential dwelling to a place of business.  This 

proposal seeks Site Development Plan approval per Section 9.1, and  a special permit use under Section 

4.1.C.1.a (retail, service businesses and personal service businesses greater than 2,500 sf). (note – 

applicant should update form to specify “4.1.C.1.a” so it is clear this is the use being applied for and 

evaluated.) 

 

The applicant proposes to construct a new 3,440 square foot (sf) building that would be attached to the 

existing single family house through an interior walkway. According to the application this space is 

intended to be used as a “Dance Hall”. 

 

The applicant intends to repurpose the existing single family house for business use. It is not clear if this 

building would be part of the “Dance” business operation or as an independent place of business. 

 

Despite the narrative the Commission must evaluate this proposal against all possible business activities 

that would be allowed under Section 4.1.C.1.a if approved. 

 

Background 

Land Use Office has no records on this property other than those customary with a single family 

residence with the exception of a home occupation sign permit issued in 2004. 

 

CGS 8-7d Timing Requirements 

This application was submitted to the land use office on September 11, 2015.  It was formally received 

by the Commission on September 19, 2015 (per Section 9.9.B) however was not listed on the agenda for 

consideration in accordance with Section 9.9.A.6. 

 

A public hearing is required and was scheduled by the Land Use Office for October 21
st
, 2015.  It has 

been requested by the applicant that the opening of the hearing be postponed to the November 18, 2015 

meeting.  The hearing must open within 65 days of receipt (November 23
rd

, 2015).  Once opened the 



 2 

hearing must be closed within 35 days (December 28, 2015).  The Commission will have 65 days from 

the close of the hearing to deliberate.  The applicant may grant an additional 65 days of “extension time” 

for any portion of time required under this section. 

 

Notices 

The following notices have been provided: 

 

1. Legal Notices (2) of the Public Hearing were published on October 6
th
 and 13th, 2015. 

2. Per Section 9.9.F a Public Hearing Sign was posted on the property by the applicant on 

September 21, 2015 for 15 continuous and an affidavit has been filed to that affect. 

3. Per Section 9.9.G, and CGS 8-7d(a) the applicant has notified owners of lots indicated within 

one hundred (100) feet of the subject lot. Copies of certified mailings were submitted on 

October 20, 2015. 

 

Analysis 

 

Staff visited the site and performed a review of the site plans in the file (A list of the plans on file is 

included in Appendix A).  The improvements shown on the plan include: 

 

The addition of: 

 Site grading 

 Areas of existing pavement to be removed 

 Entrance and circulation drives, inclusive of drop off area 

 Proposed bituminous parking area inclusive of 17 spaces 

 A 5’ concrete sidewalk from the rear parking lot to the east side of the building 

(question on point of handicap access?) 

 Signage; 

 Lighting; 

 Stormwater management controls; 

 Proposed building addition (2,700 sf plus the “connector”); 

 Changes in site landscaping 

 

Applicable Regulations and Completeness 

 

The following regulations are applicable to the review of this application: 

 

Section 4 – Business District – Service businesses are presently allowed in the business districts 

as a Special Permit under Section 4.1.C.1.a  when such business exceeds the 2,500 sf  limitation 

of Section 4.1.B.1.b.  (The Commission should specify, if approving the application, whether 

they are approving both retail and service businesses over this threshold or just service 

businesses.) 

Section 7 - Basic Standards 

 Section 8.2 - Performance Standards 

 Section 8.6 - Design Review 

Section 9.1 – Site Plan (the Applicant may request certain submission requirements to be waived 

under Section 9.1.A.12). 

Section 9.2 – Special Permit 

Section 9.9 – Procedural Requirements 

 



 3 

The required application review checklist has not been submitted, however was reviewed has 

indicated in the October 12, 2015 letter from Mr. Whitney.  A review of the application checklist 

provides questions regarding the following for the Commission’s and Applicant’s consideration: 

 Landscaping 7.1 

 Parking 7.2 

 Signage 7.3 

 Outdoor Lighting, 7.4 

 Fences and walls, 7.7 

 Traffic and Visibility 7.8 

 Bicycle and Pedestrian Accommodations 7.9 

 Copies of Deeds and Easements 

 Water, Sewer, Utility Information 

 Storm water 7.13 

 NDDB Reporting 

 Refuse removal/ disposal 

 Soils and depth to bedrock for site development activities 

 Building construction details, HVAC, Interior renovations/ code compliance. 

 Construction Details. 

 

Site Plan 

 

There is no record of Site Development Plan approval for this site.  The Commission must 

evaluate the provisions of: Section 9.1 Site Development Plan Requirements; Section 4.1.D Area 

and Dimensional Requirements for Business Districts, and standards of Section 7.  Staff has 

provided a review the Site Plan regulations attached as Appendix B 

 

Special Permit 

 

This application seeks approval of Special Permit Section 4.1.C.1.a., which requires an 

evaluation of the Special Permit Criteria of Section 9.2.E. 

 

Special Permit Considerations: 

In considering any application for a Special Permit, the Commission shall, in addition to other 

standards in the Regulations, evaluate the merits of the application with respect to the following 

factors: 

 

1. Plan of Conservation and Development – Whether the proposed use or activity is in 

accordance with or facilitates achievement of one or more of the goals, objectives, policies, 

and recommendations of the Plan of Conservation and Development, as amended; 

 

2. Purposes of Regulations – The proposed use or activity is consistent with the purposes of the 

Regulations; 

 

3. Environmental Protection and Conservation – Appropriate consideration shall be given to 

the protection, preservation, and/or enrichment of natural, scenic, historic, and unique and 

environmental resources and features which enhance the character of the community; 

 

4. Suitable Location for Use – with respect to: 

a. The size of the lot; 



 4 

b. The nature and intensity of the activities involved in or conducted in connection with the use; 

c. The streets giving access to it are such that the use shall be in harmony with the appropriate 

and orderly development in the neighborhood in which it is located; and, 

d. The impact on neighboring properties and residences or the development of the district. 

 

5. Appropriate Improvements 

a. The design elements shall be attractive and suitable in relation to the site characteristics, the 

style of other buildings in the immediate area, and the existing and probable future 

character of the neighborhood; 

b. The location, nature and height of buildings, walls, and fences, planned uses and the nature 

and extent of landscaping on the lot shall not hinder or discourage the appropriate 

development and use of land and buildings in the neighborhood or impair the value 

thereof; 

c. The proposed use shall have no material adverse impact upon the neighborhood; 

 

6. Suitable Transportation Conditions 

a. The design, location, and specific details of the proposed use or activity shall not: 

i. adversely affect safety in the streets; 

ii. unreasonably increase traffic congestion in the area; 

iii. interfere with the pattern of vehicular circulation in such a manner as to create or increase 

unsafe traffic conditions. 

b. Parking area or areas shall: 

i. be of adequate size for the particular use; 

ii. be suitably screened from adjoining residential uses; and 

iii. have entrance and exit drives laid out so as to prevent traffic hazards and 

nuisances. 

c. Streets and other rights-of-way shall be of such size, condition capacity, width, grade, 

alignment and visibility to adequately accommodate the additional traffic to be generated 

by the particular proposed use. 

 

7. Adequate Public Utilities and Services 

a. The provisions for water supply, sewage disposal, and storm water drainage shall: 

i. conform to accepted engineering practices; 

ii. comply with all standards of the appropriate regulatory authority; and 

iii. not unduly burden the capacity of such facilities. 

b. The proposed use or activity shall: 

i. provide ready accessibility for fire apparatus and police protection, and 

ii. be laid out and equipped to further the provision of emergency services. 

 

8. Nuisance Avoidance 

a. The use shall be appropriate for the area shall not create a nuisance, and shall not hinder the 

public health, safety, convenience, and property values. 

 

9. Long Term Viability - Adequate provision shall be made for the sustained maintenance of 

the proposed development including structures, streets, and other improvements. 

 

Staff has provided observations below that the Commission may wish to consider in their review 

of the proposal against this criteria. 

 



 5 

Compatibility with Uses External to the Site 

The following uses were identified as neighboring or in close proximity to this site: 

 

To the north – a single family house located in the R1 district (299 Albany Turnpike), 

which however separates this lot from another business zoned lot farther to the north, 

295 Albany Turnpike, which contains a substantial greenhouse complex and is presently 

used for wood processing activities (see Figure 3 below). 

 

To the west – a single family home on a business zoned lot (305 Albany Turnpike) which 

also separates this property from additional retail service businesses on additional 

properties to the west (309 and 315 Albany Turnpike). 

 

To the east – a shared access way for 301, 299 and 295 Albany Turnpike.  Developed 

commercial properties including retail, service and office uses at 291 and 285 Albany 

Turnpike. 

 

To the south – Opposite the state highway, a mix of uses on business zoned lots 

including a gas station, recreational facility, high density residential, automobile repair, 

office, service businesses, and single family homes. 

 

Parking and Traffic Access/Circulations: 

See Section 23 and 26 of Appendix B. 

 

Landscaping and Buffering 

There appears to be substantial existing vegetation, existing separation, and proposed 

landscaping that would adequately buffer activities from this property to surrounding areas and 

uses. 

 

Use and Location Considerations 

The proposed special permit use specific to the service business floor area represents a relatively 

small business operation.  The total development potential of the lot is rather limited due to its 

size, orientation, and access. Its ability to provide adequate parking for larger uses is somewhat 

limited with the exception of future possible expansions to the north.  To date the Land Use 

Office has not received any complaints or negative inquiries from adjacent property owners or 

other interested citizens.  The size and scale of this business as presented in the application is 

appropriate for the lot and anticipated development of this area. 

 

Additional Staff Comments 

 

Comments from additional town staff including the Traffic Authority & Fire Marshal are included in the 

file.  The Traffic Authority may have additional review comments on subsequent revisions. The applicant 

is encouraged to consult with the Building Official and Fire Marshal sooner than later to discuss change 

of use requirements that would need to be met under the Building and Fire Code should a building permit 

be sought in the future. 

 

Comments from the Project Administrator are provided in a October 21, 2015 e-mail communication. 



 6 

Recommendations 

 

It is staff’s opinion that the proposed business uses are not likely to result in conditions that are 

hazardous, inconvenient, or detrimental to the character of the neighborhood, and generally comply with 

the Special Permit and Site Plan criteria of the regulations except where specifically noted in this report. 

 

The Commission should make its own determination based on a review the compatibility of the proposed 

uses with the uses surrounding this property, and should also determine that parking, access management 

and future internal traffic circulation is adequate. 

 

The Commission should clearly state any conditions necessary to protect the public health, safety, 

convenience and property values. 

 

The Commission should consider imposing a condition requiring a modified site plan that reflects 

conditions of any approval to be submitted to staff for review prior to recording on the land records. 

 

 



 7 

Appendix A – Submitted Maps/ Plans/ Exhibits 

 

Exhibit List for: 

 

File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special 

Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater than 

2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square foot 

dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell 

owner 

 

List as of October 15, 2015 

List of Drawings 

 

1. Sheet 1; Map of Existing Conditions; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015 

2. Sheet 2; Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting 

Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015 

3. Sheet 3; Site Grading and Utilities Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated September 2, 2015 

4. Sheet 4; Elevations; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by D. Tarinelli Architect; Prepared for Kym 

Nash; Dated August 31, 2015 

5. Sheet 5; Ground Floor Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by D. Tarinelli Architect; Prepared 

for Kym Nash; Dated August 31, 2015 

6. Sheet 6; Map of Existing Conditions; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015 

7. Sheet 7; Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, Consulting 

Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015 

8. Sheet 8; Site Grading and Utilities Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Revised October 6, 2015 

9. Sheet 9; Alternate Site Layout Plan; 301 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by David F. Whitney, 

Consulting Engineers, LLC; Prepared for Holden Nardini; Dated October 7, 2015 

 

Correspondence: 

 

1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany 

Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., 

Retail, service businesses and personal services businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and 

Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and 

associated site improvements; Holden Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner 

2. Copy of Payment; Check #200 

3. Assessor’s Card for 301 Albany Turnpike; Parcel 1010301 

4. List of Abutters within 100 feet 

5. Copy of the abutter notice sent to neighboring properties on September 21, 2015 notifying them 

of the upcoming Public Hearing on October 21, 2015 

6. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning 

Regulations; dated 9/21/15 

7. Proof of Certified Mailing from the Hartford Courant; dated October 1, 2015 

8. Email from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding soil tests at 301 Albany Turnpike; dated 

October 13, 2015 



 8 

9. Email from David Whitney to Renee Narducci regarding revised plans; dated October 14, 2015 

10. Email from David Whitney to Renee Narducci regarding a letter with additional information for 

the proposed Dance Studio; dated October 14, 2015 

11. Letter from David Whitney to Neil Pade regarding additional information for the proposed Dance 

Studio; dated October 12, 2015 

12. Application review comments from Police Chief Christopher Arciero; received October 14, 2015 

13. Application review comments from Fire Marshal Tim Tharau; received October 15, 2015 

 



 9 

Appendix B Site Plan 

 

Application Checklist Review: 

1.3 Site Plan Application: 

1. Copies – Ok 

2. Application Form – Ok 

3. Application Fee – Ok 

4. Narrative – 

a. Although provided, additional narrative information is anticipated by the applicant. 

b. Additional information is necessary to determine proper provisions for water supply, 

sewage disposal and drainage. 

c. An estimate of occupancy and traffic is provided in the October 12, 2015 letter from Mr. 

Whitney however it is anticipated the applicant will provide additional information 

relating to the operation of the business and associated traffic and parking.  Onsite traffic 

circulation is anticipated to change and proposed parking possibly expanded as the result 

of revisions presently in progress. 

5. Copies of Deeds and Easements (both for 301 Albany Turnpike, and the right of way for 295 

Albany Turnpike) have not been provided. 

6. Notice (Sign and Abutters) – Addressed in staff report. 

7. Notice (Parties holding restrictions) – N/A? 

8. Notice (Adjoining municipalities) – N/A 

9. Notice (Water Co.) – N/A 

10. Wetlands – N/A 

11. Wetlands – N/A 

12. Wetlands – N/A 

13. Aquifer – N/A 

14. Flood – N/A 

15. Well/ Septic – Information not yet submitted to demonstrate provision of water. 

16. Public Water – N/A 

17. Sewer – Information not yet submitted to demonstrate connection to public sewer. 

18. State Traffic Administration/ LTA – Comments from LTA submitted on October 14, 2015.  

STA = N/A. 

19. Other Conditions – Presently N/A 

20. Bonds - N/A unless required by Commission 

21. Historic District – N/A 

22. Stormwater – Additional information necessary to demonstrate compliance with Section 7.13 

of the regulations (See Storm water Management Study for disturbances over 10,000 sf, 7.13.B.) 

23. Traffic – 

a. The proposal appears to be under the threshold that would require a traffic impact 

analysis unless a finding is made by the Commission under 7.8.B.1.b. 

b. Visibility and driveway obstruction requirements of 7.8.C.2 should be reviewed. 

c. Possible turning movements into both the driveways of 299 and 301 Albany Turnpike 

should be reviewed and coordinated to the extent practical (of specific concern are 

periods of class turn over).  It is preferable for such access points to be consolidated and 

shared to reduce conflicts. 

24. Erosion Control – Erosion control plan and notes submitted per Section 7.6.8.1.  Additional 

silt fence may be needed along the west side of the site during certain portions of site 

construction. 

25. Design Review – to be conducted by the PZC. 

26. Site Plan 



 10 

a. Preparation – prepared, signed and sealed by a Professional Engineer. Survey 

information references professional survey however survey not provided. 

b. Size/ Scale/ Copies – Ok. 

c. Plan Information – 

d. Key Map – Ok 

e. Title Block – Ok 

f. Arrow, Scale – Ok 

g. Zoning Schedule – Total Distributed Area and Cut’s and Fill’s not provided. 

h. Boundaries – reference A-2 survey, survey not provided/ available. 

i. Abutters – Ok 

j. Limits – Ok 

k. Easements – Easements or rights of access to 295 Albany Turnpike to be provided. 

l. Grading – Ok 

m. Soils – Not provided 

n. Water Supply Areas – N/A 

o. Refuse Disposal – Dumpsters not provided. The Commission should review potential 

waste disposal options with the applicant (and consider future occupancies that may be 

covered under the proposed use) and determine adequacy of refuse disposal proposed, or 

the need for additional inclusions on the site development plan. 

p. Roads/ Driveway/ Obstructions – When final ingress and egress is designed, sight lines 

and obstructions should be closely review to ensure there are not conflicts/ hazards. 

Special consideration should be given to existing street trees and vegetation along the 

state right of way. 

q. Setbacks – provided 

r. Utilities – 

i. Electric, telephone, cable – Incomplete 

ii. Gas/ Propane – Not shown (Oil fill shown) 

iii. Water – Incomplete 

iv. Sewer – Incomplete 

v. Well – shown 

vi. Septic/ Leaching – N/A 

vii. Other 

s. Environment – 

i. Wetlands and Watercourses – N/A 

ii. NDDB areas – NDDB areas cover the property and surrounding area. A NDDB 

reporting form should be submitted and recommendations incorporated into 

construction practices if applicable. 

iii. Rock Outcrops - Shown 

iv. Tree Canopy – Shown 

v. PWS/ Aquifer – N/A 

vi. Stormwater – Shown 

vii. Soils Test Pits – Conducted on 10/14/15, information/ results to be submitted. 

viii. Groundwater – 

ix. Other – 

t. Buildings – HVAC – Not shown 

u. Details – Provided – Additional detail information on construction of retaining wall, 

stormwater infiltration, manholes, sidewalk (must be Portland cement concrete), site 

lighting and landscaping.  Pavement detail differs from approved standard (Diagram 

7.2.D.2) but is technically superior (the Commission should consider upgrading their 



 11 

detail).  It is questionable if full depth of construction can be achieved in this area.  

Proposed curbing shown in the detail is not consistent with Section 7.1.E.6 and 7.2.D.13. 

v. Cost Estimates – not provided 

w. Section 6.1 – 6.4 - N/A 

x. Section 7.1 Landscaping  - 

i. Not submitted by a professional LA. 

ii. Additional information should be provided on the species and size of proposed 

plantings demonstrating compliance with Section 7.1.F. 

iii. The site design appears to rely on the use of existing vegetation to meet many of 

the requirements of Section 7.1.  The Commission should consider this under 

Sections 7.1.D.1.a, 7.1.D.2.b,  7.1.H. 

iv. 7.1.E.8 – landscaping buffer (15’ inclusive of sidewalk) is not met. Additional 

plantings within this area are required. 

v. 7.1.E – parking lot landscaping is provided at greater than the requires 10%. The 

Commission may determine an existing shade tree is necessary, however the 

additional residential buffer and exiting trees to remain (if protected) should 

suffice. 

vi. Proposed curbing shown in the detail is not consistent with Section 7.1.E.6 

vii. Existing trees to remain are to be protected in accordance with 7.1.G.7. 

viii. A note should be added to the plans indicating site landscaping may be modified 

by the ZEO in consultation with the LA who prepared the design. 

y. Section 7.2 - Parking and Loading 

i. The Commission could review this as a Service Use or Other, or Place of 

Assembly – the applicant is presently providing 18 parking spaces which is not 

inconsistent with the standard of 6 per 1000 sf of gfa. With the anticipation of 12 

students per class and separation between classes, the parking provided should 

be adequate.  However the Commission should discuss with the applicant the 

anticipation of this business being very successful and possibly increasing class 

sizes. In addition the management of parking for recitals or other events should 

be discussed.  As noted above, it is believed that the parking and circulation plan 

is being modified. 

ii. The current proposal intends to reuse existing driveways.  Section 7.2.D.4 

requires driveways for Business District properties to be a minimum of 24’ wide.  

Although the existing driveway widths are existing non-conforming there is a 

special permit use being added to the property. The Commission may also refer 

to Section 7.2.D.5 regarding Access Management. If additional changes occur, 

CTDOT District 4 should be consulted. 

iii. Snow storage areas should be included on the plan in accordance with 7.2.D.8. 

iv. Curbing as shown is not consistent with Section 7.2.D.13. 

z. Section 7.3 - Signage - Signage location provided for a ground sign but no other 

information provided. 

aa. Section 7.4 – Outdoor Lighting – The location of 3 potential light poles (limited to the 

rear of the building) was identified on the plans. Remaining lighting information required 

by this section not provided. Detailed information on light fixtures, height of poles, 

construction and orientation, photometric for business hour and non-business hour 

operation of the site is required.  With classes anticipated to go as late as 9 PM this will 

need to be addressed. 

bb. Section 7.5 – Earthwork and Grading – Up to 1,999 cy is allowed via Zoning Permit 

cc. Section 7.6 – Erosion and Sediment Control – Discussed above (24) 



 12 

dd. Section 7.7- Fences and walls – Additional information on the construction of the 

proposed retaining wall requested above. 

ee. Section 7.8 – Traffic and Visibility – Addressed above in 23, 26.p., and 26.y. 

ff. Section 7.9 – Bicycle, Pedestrian and Emergency Accommodations – 

i. Pedestrian access to the building from the street and along frontage not provided. 

ii. Sidewalk along perpendicular parking needs to be 6’ in width, or a minimum of 

4’ if concrete wheel stops are used. 

iii. The Commission may consider possible findings under Section 7.9.C.6.c 

iv. Bicycle parking is required under Section 7.9.D.1.b but identified on the plans. 

gg. Section 7.10 – Outdoor Display – N/A 

hh. Section 7.11 – Mobile Vendors – N/A 

ii. Section 7.12 – Hours of Operation – Ok on hours of operation. Per 7.12.C and Section 

7.4 a lighting plan should be submitted that correlates to hours of operation. 

jj. Section 7.13 – Additional Stormwater Management information per Section 7.13.B is 

requested (22). 

kk. Section 8.2 – Performance Standards – Noise and Glare to be evaluated.  It is not clear 

where HVAC mechanicals will be stored/ mounted. 

ll. Section 8.6 – Design Review – To be conducted by the PZC. 

27. Architectural plans – 

a. The north elevation is scaled, it is believed all other elevations presented are of the same 

scale. 

b. Engineered steel building, metal roof and siding.  Additional information on the 

construction would be helpful, material samples, details, insulation? (Concerns have 

been raised about noise on prior applications using engineered steel buildings with no 

insulation) 

c. Aesthetics – proposed building addition will not be very visible from the exterior of the 

site. 

d. Floor plan – proposed remodel of existing house to commercial space should be 

reviewed by building official and fire marshal to ensure no issues with new codes when 

building permit is sought. 

 



 13 

Appendix C – Figures 

 

 

 

 
Figure 1 - 301 Albany Turnpike 

 



 14 

 
Figure 2 - 301 Albany Turnpike, Surrounding Area 

 
Figure 3 - 301 Albany Turnpike, Street View 



 15 

 
Figure 4 - Zoning Map, Properties Near and Around 301 Albany Turnpike 

 



 16 

 
Figure 5 - Existing Pedestrian Network Limits 



















































DAVID F. WHITNEY,
CONSULTING ENGINEERS, LLC

NOTES

1. Property lines, dimensions, existing building, existing driveways, topography,
existing trees, existing utilities and miscellaneous information taken from field
survey in August, 2015 and Class A-2 survey map prepared by Neriani
Surveying, Avon, CT.

2. Site is located in "B" Business Zone.

3. Total area of site = 36,786 square feet/0.844 acres.

4. No inland wetlands soils located on site.

5. Water supply by individual on-site well.

6. Sanitary sewage disposal by public sanitary sewer.

7. All construction methods and materials shall conform to the regulations and
requirements of the Town of Canton.



















































Exhibit List for:

File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; Special
Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, retail and service businesses greater than 2,500 square feet; Section
4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 7.3.G, coordinated sign theme standards; and Section 9.1.A.1,
Site Plan Modification; Steven Stang, applicant/owner

List as of February 2, 2016

List of Drawings

1. Sheet 1; Unified Site Plan; 163-175 Albany Turnpike; Prepared by Denno Land Surveying &
Consulting, LLC; Prepared for G.S.H.P., LLC; Dated January 27, 2016

Correspondence:

1. Town of Canton – Zoning Development Application for File #140; Apln #1574; 175 Albany Turnpike;
Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010175; Zone B; Special Permits, Section 4.1.C.1.a, retail and service
businesses greater than 2,500 square feet; Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 7.3.G,
coordinated sign theme standards; and Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; Steven Stang,
applicant/owner

2. Copy of payment; check #2080

3. Site Plan application checklist

4. Letter from Steven Stang regarding the property; dated 1/28/16

5. Pictures of current signage (2 total)

6. Abutter’s map

7. Abutter’s list

8. Copy of abutter notice; dated 1/29/16

9. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning Regulations;
dated 1/29/16

10. Public hearing sign affidavit; dated 1/29/16

11. Town of Canton legal notice

12. Proof of legal notice from the Hartford Courant; dated 2/2/16

































































Archived:Wednesday, February 17, 2016 9:53:21 AM
From: Carlson, Michelle
Sent: Thu, 29 Oct 2015 10:54:24
To: Pade, Neil
Cc: Narducci, Renee; Anyzeski, Emily; Wallace, George
Subject: RE: Gravity wall system for The Shoppes at Farmington Valley - review
Importance: Normal

HI Neil,

I have a few questions as I work thru the below list.

What is the submission deadline for the next IWWA meeting?

Also do we have to go to PZC since the wall is greater than 8 feet? The existing wall is greater than 8ft and is
falling apart so we need to get the new wall approved and installed to be the same height as the existing.

Thanks,

Michelle

Michelle Carlson, P.E.
Senior Project Manager
Principal
BL Companies | Employee owned. Client driven.

355 Research Parkway, Meriden, CT 06450
tel: 203.630.1406 | direct: 203.608.2557
mobile: 860.539.7474 | fax: 203.630.2615
www.blcompanies.com

From: Pade, Neil [mailto:NPade@TownofCantonCT.org]
Sent: Friday, October 16, 2015 10:37 AM
To: Carlson, Michelle <mcarlson@Blcompanies.com>
Cc: Narducci, Renee <RNarducci@TownofCantonCT.org>; Anyzeski, Emily <EAnyzeski@TownofCantonCT.org>;
Wallace, George <GWallace@TownofCantonCT.org>
Subject: FW: Gravity wall system for The Shoppes at Farmington Valley - review

Hi Michelle – Please see the comments from Mr. Wallace below.

I have the following:

Wetlands

mailto:mcarlson@Blcompanies.com
mailto:NPade@TownofCantonCT.org
mailto:RNarducci@TownofCantonCT.org
mailto:EAnyzeski@TownofCantonCT.org
mailto:GWallace@TownofCantonCT.org


- A Permit application to the IWWA will be required.

Flood Zone
- We need an explanation on why there is no LOMA from FEMA on the flood plain boundaries. Obviously

a substantial amount of fill occurred augmented the boundaries which must have had some form of
approval, but the flood plain boundaries shown in the plan (and by FEMA are not accurate).

- See Section 6.2.E.5 (inclusive of subsection d).
- See Section 6.2.F.4.b and e and 6.2.G.1 regarding work and value.
- We need further discussion on how to process this under the flood zone.

Zoning
- Wall elevations exceed 8’. Section 7.7.C.2.a and b require separation/ stepping and grading in-between

or a special permit under 7.7.C.3 to modify these standards.
- No grading permit required under 7.5.D.1
- Section 7.6 will require erosion and sedimentation controls. Due to the significance of Jim’s Brook a

single line of silt fence is not sufficient, please reinforce with a row of staked hay bales, wood bark mulch
berm, or a second line of silt fencing.

Thanks,

Neil S. Pade AICP
Director of Planning and Community Development
Town of Canton, Connecticut
4 Market Street
PO Box 168
Collinsville, CT 06022-0168
860-693-7891 Phone
860-693-7884 Fax
npade@townofcantonct.org
www.townofcantonct.org

From: Wallace, George
Sent: Friday, October 16, 2015 9:39 AM
To: Pade, Neil
Cc: Martin, Robert; Skinner, Robert; Anyzeski, Emily; Narducci, Renee; Rich, William; Boyko, Harriet
Subject: Re: Gravity wall system for The Shoppes at Farmington Valley - review

Neil,

I have completed a preliminary review of the site plan sheet [SP-1] and the detail sheet [DN-1] for a new
gravity wall system for The Shoppes AT Farmington Valley; Route 44; Canton, CT; dated 10/5/15 as prepared
by BL Companies and have the following comments:

1. There were no calculations submitted for the proposed Stone Strong Gravity Wall System
demonstrating the wall system’s stability against overturning, sliding, bearing requirements at the toe
of the wall, etc. Such calculations should be prepared by and stamped by a Professional Engineer;

2. The site plan sheet [SP-1] and the detail sheet [DN-1] for a new gravity wall system should be
stamped by a Professional Engineer;

3. By item 2. above, verification that the 9” embedment of the toe of the proposed wall is sufficient
when considering possible frost action;



4. Recommend the Note 1. on sheet DN-1, stating “Drain tile may be eliminated at the discretion of the
site engineer”, be removed from the sheet unless design calculations prepared by a Professional
Engineer are submitted demonstrating the drain tile would not be needed;

5. Existing fence at top of wall should be moved out to the top of the new wall for safety of maintaining
the surface between the existing and proposed walls;

6. Recommend that the excerpts from the 2003 report and corresponding mapping identifying the “net
increase in the available 100-year compensatory flood storage volume of 7,877 CY” from the
development should be submitted as background data for review with this plan;

7. An explanation of how the gravity wall system will be installed/constructed should be provided along
with limits of disturbance/work area, measured from the proposed wall, for access road construction,
crane staging, etc.;

8. The start of some deterioration of the gravity wall, on the opposite side of the brook that supports
the access driveway, was noticed and prompted the question of whether this same system would be
used on that side in the future if warranted.

Note that the review of supplemental materials requested above may warrant further comments.

Please contact me if you have any questions on any of the above.

Sincerely,

George M. Wallace, P.E.
Project Administrator
Town of Canton

(860)693-7855























































JIM
 BR

OOK

JIM
 BR

OOK

BUILDING "F"

BLDG "G'
BASIN #1

JIM
    

BR
OO

K

7

F.6

G

H

D

E

F

A

B

6

5

4

C

3

2

1

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

JIM

JIM
 BR

OOK

POTENTIAL INTERIOR WALLS.

WALLS MAY CHANGE TO MEET TENNANT

NEEDS.

POTENTIAL INTERIOR WALLS.

WALLS MAY CHANGE TO MEET TENNANT

NEEDS.

T

BR
OO

K

RUBABS

BAJA FRESH

T
T

C
O

M
PA

C
TO

R

FLATBREAD

PLAYGROUND

7

F.6

G

H

D

E

F

A

B

6

5

4

C

3

2

1

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

'

JIM

JIM
 BR

OOK

POTENTIAL INTERIOR WALLS.

WALLS MAY CHANGE TO MEET TENNANT

NEEDS.

POTENTIAL INTERIOR WALLS.

WALLS MAY CHANGE TO MEET TENNANT

NEEDS.

T

BR
OO

K

RUBABS

BAJA FRESH

T
T

C
O

M
PA

C
TO

R

FLATBREAD

PLAYGROUND

SITE
PLAN

C
A

N
TO

N
, C

O
N

N
E

C
TI

C
U

T
R

O
U

TE
 4

4
TH

E
 S

H
O

P
P

E
S

 A
T 

FA
R

M
IN

G
TO

N
 V

A
LL

E
Y

LAND SURVEYING
ENVIRONMENTAL

ENGINEERING
ARCHITECTURE



Minimum Concave
Radius

Wall Height Total # of Reqd. Radius
(ft) Courses at Top Course
6 2 46' 4"
9 3 46' 8"

12 4 47' 0"
15 5 47' 4"
18 6 47' 8"
21 7 48' 0"
24 8 48' 4"

Minimum Convex
Radius

Wall Height Total # of Reqd. Radius
(ft) Courses at First Course
6 2 52' 0"
9 3 52' 4"

12 4 52' 8"
15 5 53' 0"
18 6 53' 4"
21 7 53' 8"
24 8 54' 0"

C
A

N
TO

N
, C

O
N

N
E

C
TI

C
U

T
R

O
U

TE
 4

4
TH

E
 S

H
O

P
P

E
S

 A
T 

FA
R

M
IN

G
TO

N
 V

A
LL

E
Y

LAND SURVEYING
ENVIRONMENTAL

ENGINEERING
ARCHITECTURE

355 Research Parkway

(203) 630-1406
Meriden, CT  06450

(203) 630-2615  Fax

DETAIL
SHEET

































50 Old River Road   
A Multi-Use Site 

 

Presented by  

Bob Skinner, George Wallace, and Bob Martin  February 11, 2016 
 



Presentation Outline 

 Site Use & Background History 
 

 Possibilities  
 

 Next Steps 



                  Current Use Of Site  

 

Department of Public Works 

Water Pollution Control Facility  

Bicentennial Park 

Bike/Walking Trail 

Limited River Access    

 

 



Existing Use Of Site    



         2011 - Proposed Use Of Site  



         2012 - Proposed Use Of Site  



Future Site Use Possibilities   

 Continue Complimentary Use Of The Site 
 

Recreation 
 Enhanced River Access  
 Scenic River Picnic Areas 
 Additional Trail Parking 
 Groomed Ball Field  

Public Works 
 New Access Road 
 New Facility   

Water Pollution Control Facility 
  



Mitigation – DPW Facility   

FEMA and State of Connecticut Regulations  

 

FEMA / NFIP definition of Substantial Improvement 
(Regulations 59.1/60.3):  

 Mirrors Town of Canton definition: “Any reconstruction, 
rehabilitation, addition, or other improvement of a structure, the cost 
of which equals or exceeds 50 percent of the market value of the 
structure before the "start of construction" of the improvement. This 
term includes structures which have incurred "substantial damage," 
regardless of the actual repair work performed. The term does not 
apply to correction of violations that assure safe living conditions or 
alteration of historic structures  

 



Mitigation – DPW Facility   

2015 Fuss & O’Neill Flood Management Regulations Analysis 
 

 
Reduction of storage in the floodplain (Section 6.2.H.6.A-E):  
By building a new facility, soil would be placed up to the floor elevation. 
This soil would occupy space that is currently available for flood storage. 
Flood storage cannot be reduced unless: 
 Compensated for by deepening or widening the floodplain   
 Reduction has an unrestricted hydraulic connection to the same 

waterway or water body  
 Alterations do not cause an increase in flooding upstream or 

downstream 
 
Current Base Flood Elevation is at 298’ 
 

  



Mitigation – DPW Facility   

Conclusions:  

 

 If adding a boiler addition, and any other improvements that take 
place with 10 years before or after the boiler addition, result in an 
increase of more than 50% of the market value of the structure, the 
addition is a substantial renovation.  

 If a substantial renovation the Town Zoning Regulations require 
the improvements to be elevated to or above the Base Flood Elevation 
(BFE) and compensatory storage must be provided.  



Schematic Site Plan    



Schematic Site Plan – Grading     



Future Proposed Use Of Site    



DPW Facility – 1st Floor Layout    



DPW Facility – 1st Floor Equipment Layout    



DPW Facility – 2nd  Floor Layout    



DPW Facility – Elevation Views   



DPW Facility Cost Estimate    



Proposed Mitigation – Site Cut & Fill     



Proposed Mitigation – Site Drainage     



Next Steps   

 

Boards & Commissions   
 Permanent Municipal Building Committee  

 In-Land Wetlands & Watercourses Agency  

 Planning & Zoning Committee  

 

Professional Services   
 Survey   

 Formal Plans 

 Concept Drawings  

 



50 Old River Road   
A Multi-Use Site 

Questions & Answers 



  
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES 
Regular Meeting 

Canton Planning and Zoning Commission 
Tuesday, January 19, 2016 at 7:30 pm 

Community Center, Room E 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, CT 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER: The Regular Meeting of the Canton Planning and Zoning Commission on January 19, 
2016 was called to order at 7:37 p.m. 
 
PRESENT: David Bondanza, David Freeman, David Evens, Phil Pane, Jonathan Thiesse and Lansford Perry  
ABSENT: John Huyghebaert, William Sarmuk and Keith August 
ALSO PRESENT: Town Planner Neil Pade and Land Use Coordinator Renee Narducci 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
Mr. Freeman is hereby seated for Mr. August. 
 
MODIFICATION OF AGENDA: None 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Pane 
 
1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; 

Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services 
businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the 
construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden 
Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner – Ms. Nash, the applicant’s representative, filed 
a consent for extension of statutory time (CGS, Chapter 8-7d), requesting that the continuation of this 
public hearing be postponed until the February 17, 2016 Regular Meeting of the Planning and Zoning 
Commission.  
 
MOTION: Mr. Freeman moved to continue the public hearing for File #379; Apln #1559 to the next 
Regular Meeting on February 17, 2016 at 7:30 p.m. in Room F of the Community Center. Mr. Thiesse 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously.  
 
Mr. Bondanza recused himself at 7:41 p.m. and Mr. Thiesse took over as acting Chairman. 
 

2. File #194; Apln #1567; 540 Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; 
Special Permit, Section 6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF district; and 
Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation of 
up to a 75 square foot identification sign to be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire 
Station; Harold Freytag, applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner 
 
Commissioners Seated: David Freeman, David Evens, Phil Pane, Jonathan Thiesse and Lansford Perry 
 
Mr. Jeff O’Neil, Chair of the Board of Directors for the North Canton Volunteer Fire Association (NCVFA), 
was present in order to discuss the application and answer questions the Commission had. Mr. O’Neil 
provided supplemental information in the form of a handout, which was received by all members of the 



Commission at the beginning of the public hearing and read aloud. The document provided background 
information on the property, its history as a Fire Station, the proposed establishment of an emergency 
phone for public use, reasoning behind the requested sign, and NCVFA’s recently approved Zoning 
Board of Appeals application. Mr. Thiesse asked if the NCVFA had considered modifying the existing 
sign, which is a standalone sign perpendicular to Route 179. Mr. Evens expressed a concern regarding 
the visibility of the proposed sign and questioned how it would aide in terms of awareness/safety. He 
stated that a standalone sign that is perpendicular to the road would be more visible to traffic coming from 
the North and South. Mr. O’Neil showed the Commission pictures of various signs throughout the town, 
which was used as an aide in their decision to request a 75 square foot sign. According to Mr. O’Neil, the 
NCVFA would like to install a wall-mounted sign due to the high cost of installing a secondary free-
standing sign or modifying the current message board. Mr. Pane expressed a concern regarding the 
requested size of the sign, and noted that 75 square feet is excessive. Both Mr. Pane and Mr. Pade 
discussed the nature of the sign regulations and how they were developed with the assistance of the 
Canton Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Thiesse restated that the issue here is not the need or intent behind 
the sign, but the size requested in relation to what is allowed within the Zoning Regulations. The notion of 
reducing the size of the sign was questioned; however, Mr. O’Neil stated that the NCVFA would like to 
stick with 75 square feet.  
 
Mr. Arnold Goldman of 89 High Valley Drive, who is a current member of the NCVFA, and Mr. Scott 
Goeben of 1 Huckleberry Hill Road, who is Captain of the North Canton Volunteer Fire Department, 
spoke in favor of the application. 
 
Ms. Patricia Goodwin of 552 Cherry Brook Road submitted a letter to the Land Use Department on 
January 12, 2016, stating her opposition to the proposed sign, which was read aloud by Mr. Pade 
during the public hearing.  

 
MOTION: Mr. Perry moved to close the public hearing for File #194; Apln #1567. Mr. Evens 
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously.  

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #379; Apln #1559; 301 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1010301; Zone B; 

Special Exception; Section 4.1.C.1.a., Retail, service businesses and personal services 
businesses greater than 2,500 square feet, and Site Plan Application; Section 9.1, for the 
construction of a 3,440 square foot dance studio and associated site improvements; Holden 
Nardini, applicant; Arthur and Bette Lowell owner – No action was taken. 
 

2. File #194; Apln #1567; 540 Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; 
Special Permit, Section 6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF district; and 
Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation of 
up to a 75 square foot identification sign to be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire 
Station; Harold Freytag, applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner – Mr. Pade 
explained the creation of the MCPF district and the need for careful review of this application, as well 
as future applications. Mr. Perry stated that he feels the proposed sign is in harmony with the 
character of the area and is esthetically suitable. He also noted that the sign appears to fit the Special 
Permit criteria regarding appropriateness. Both Mr. Freeman and Mr. Evens agreed with Mr. Perry’s 
discussion; however, Mr. Evens stated that an identification sign would be better suited perpendicular 
to the road. Mr. Thiesse also felt the proposed sign is appropriate but explained the Commission’s 
role in striving for consistency with the Zoning Regulations. Mr. Pane stated that he does not like the 
idea of approving a sign of this size, as it is excessive in nature and far beyond what is permitted in 
the regulations.  

 



MOTION: Mr. Thiesse made a motion to APPROVE File #194; Apln #1567; 540 Cherry Brook; 
Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; Special Permit, Section 6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted 
by Special Permit in MCPF district; and Section 6.4.E.10, enlargement of Special Permit in MCPF 
district, requesting the installation of up to a 75 square foot identification sign to be mounted on the 
North Canton Volunteer Fire Station; Harold Freytag, applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire 
Association, owner. 
 
This approval is granted in part on the application submitted on December 3, 2015, testimony 
received at a public hearing commenced on January 19, 2016 and closed on that date; and upon the 
following documentation submitted by the Applicant or others during the course of the proceedings on 
the application: 
 
Correspondence: 

1. Town of Canton Planning/Zoning Development Application – File #194; Apln #1567; 540 
Cherry Brook; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone: MCPF; Special Permit, Section 
6.4.D.5.a, signs permitted by Special Permit in MCPF district; and Section 6.4.E.10, 
enlargement of Special Permit in MCPF district, requesting the installation of up to a 75 
square foot identification sign to be mounted on the North Canton Volunteer Fire Station; 
Harold Freytag, applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner 

2. Special Permit application checklist 
3. List of abutters 
4. Abutters map 
5. Copy of the abutter notice sent to abutting property owners; dated 12/14/15 
6. Certification of Notice for posting of Public Hearing sign per Section 9.9.F of Zoning 

Regulations 
7. Memo from Assistant Town Planner Emily Anyzeski to the ZBA regarding ZBA Application 

File #2015-7; dated 11/5/15 
8. Sketch of the sign approved by the ZBA; dated 11/9/15 
9. Copy of the approval letter for ZBA Application File #2015-7; dated 11/20/15 
10. Copy of the follow-up letter sent to Mr. Harold Freytag from Neil Pade, regarding necessary 

action prior to the installation of the sign; dated 11/24/15 
11. Certified mailing receipts 
12. Letter to Renee Narducci from Patricia Goodwin regarding the proposed sign; received by the 

Land Use Office on October 19, 2015 
13. Email from Karen McCoubrey to Renee Narducci regarding a preliminary drawing for the 

proposed sign at 540 Cherry Brook Road; dated October 9, 2015 
14. Draft minutes from the 11/9/15 ZBA regular meeting 
15. Letter to Renee Narducci from Patricia Goodwin regarding the proposed sign; received by the 

Land Use Office on 1/12/16 
16. January 13, 2016 memorandum from Neil S. Pade AICP to the Planning and Zoning 

Commission 
17. Letter from Jeff O’Neil to the Planning and Zoning Commission regarding the proposed 

application; received by the Commission during the Public Hearing on 1/19/16 
 

This approval with conditions and modifications is granted because the Commission finds that the 
application, as conditioned and modified by and inclusive of the stipulations of this approval, would 
comply with the following: 

 
1. Section 9.2.E – Special Permit Criteria 
2. Section 6.4.A – MCPF Purpose 
3. Section 6.4.D.5.a – Signs in accordance with Section 7.3 
4. Section 7.3.C – Standards – Signs in Residence Districts 
5. As modified in terms of those standards and regulations by the variance approved by the 

Zoning Board of Appeals, with respect to the uniqueness of the property and that the 
approval was tied to the building’s use as a Fire Station.  

 



The Commission hereby grants this approval subject to the following conditions, modifications, 
restrictions, and safeguards: 

 
1.  This approval is effective February 8

th
, 2016 (20 days from approval date) and upon the 

recording of the approval letter/certificate of action with the Town Clerk. 
 
2.  The sign shall be designed and located on the building in accordance with the information 

provided in the application and presented before the Commission. 
 

3. The Commission hereby waives the required application fees in accordance with Chapter 248-6 
of the Canton Town Code. 
 

4. This approval is binding upon the applicant/developer, heirs, assigns, and grantees. This 
approval constitutes a contractual agreement between the Town of Canton and the applicant, 
heirs, assigns and grantees. 
 

5. In evaluating this application the Town of Canton has relied on information provided by the 
Applicant or his agent. 

 
Mr. Evens seconded the motion, which passed 3-1-1.  
 
VOTE: Evens – Yes; Freeman – Yes; Pane – Abstained; Thiesse – No; Perry – Yes 
 
Mr. Bondanza returned to the meeting at 9:00 p.m. and re-assumed his role as Chairman. 

 
OLD BUSINESS: None 
  
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
1. File #193; Apln #1571; 465 Albany Turnpike; Assessor’s Map 26; Parcel 1010465; Zone B; Special 

Permit, Section 4.1.C.1.f, outdoor display area; Section 9.1.A.1, Site Plan Modification; request to 
establish a 1,050 (+/-) square foot outdoor display in the southwest corner of the property; Dana 
Mathes, applicant; 465 Albany Turnpike, LLC, owner – Mr. Pade provided a brief overview of the 
application and a staff report was provided to the Commission prior to the start of the meeting. 
 
MOTION: Mr. Evens moved to receive the application as presented and schedule a public hearing for 
February 17, 2016. Mr. Perry seconded the motion, which passed unanimously.  

 
OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Review minutes of the December 16, 2015 Regular Meeting – The minutes were approved as presented. 

 
2. Freedom of Information (FOI) Class; February 3, 2016 at 7:00 p.m. – A class will be held for the 

benefit of town staff and commissioners in Room F of the Community Center, in which attendance by 
the Commission is encouraged and appreciated.  

 
3. CRCOG Representative Recommendation for Regional Planning Commission – Mr. Bondanza 

made a resolution to nominate Mr. Perry as the CRCOG Representative for the Regional Planning 
Commission, with Mr. Evens as an alternate. 

 
4. POCD Implementation Review – Mr. Pade informed the Commission that he would like to arrange a 

meeting by March 2016 in order to run through the POCD to determine progress, areas in need of 
improvement and next steps. It was requested that the Commission review the materials provided in 
the meeting packet for a discussion at the next Regular Meeting. Mr. Thiesse expressed the need for 
a member of the Commission to be involved in the Plan Implementation Committee working group, 
which is currently staffed by Mr. Pade and members of the Board of Selectmen. After some 



discussion, it was decided that this recommendation will be brought before the Board of Selectmen at 
the Super-Board meeting on January 28, 2016.  

 
5. Discussion of Super-Board Meeting on January 28, 2016 – The Commission discussed the overall 

intent of the meeting and who would be in attendance. The meeting will take place in Room F of the 
Community Center at 7:00 p.m. on Thursday, January 28, 2016. 

 
6. Discussion of Possible Edits to Zoning Regulations – Mr. Pade provided overview on where 

things stand with the current list of suggested edits. As of right now, the proposed changes regarding 
as-builts have been completed, Mr. Pade has been in contact with the Collinsville Historic District 
Commission to discuss Open Signs, and draft language around archeological regulations have been 
provided by the Town Historian. Edits pertaining to accessory buildings and structures in the MR 
District, shipping containers, and equipment and vehicles are currently in progress.  

 
7. Discussion of Design Regulations – A Special Meeting will be scheduled for Wednesday, February 

10, 2016 in order to discuss Sections 1-4 of the draft Form-Based Code Regulations. 
 

8. Discussion of Subdivision Regulations Rewrite – Mr. Pade informed the Commission that he is 
waiting for a complete draft of the Subdivision Regulations and Public Improvement Standards re-
write, which should be delivered by the end of the month. 

 
9. Discussion of Citation Process within Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures – Mr. Pade 

provided some insight regarding the questions that were proposed during the joint meeting of the 
Zoning Board of Appeals and the Planning and Zoning Commission on December 2, 2015, and 
feedback from the Town Attorney was provided in the meeting packets prior to the meeting. The 
Commission discussed the citation process and whether or not changes were necessary at this time, 
and as a result, no changes were recommended. 

 
10. Staff Reports: 

a. Town Planner’s Report 
i. File #524; Shallot Meadow Road Acceptance Request – As reported last month, the 

developer has requested a recommendation from the Commission that Shallot Meadow Road 
be accepted by the Board of Selectmen. On December 24, 2015, the applicant received a 
checklist notifying him of the missing information that would be necessary in order for the 
Commission to issue a positive recommendation. To date, no additional information has been 
submitted to the Land Use Department and the Town’s on-call consultant does not have all 
the necessary information to complete his review. In the meantime, an interim report has 
been requested. 

ii. Annual Town Meeting January 20, 2016 – The annual Town Meeting will be held at 7:00 
p.m. in the Town Hall Auditorium, located at 4 Market Street, Collinsville, CT. The meeting 
will include a presentation on the TIF Master Plan for the Collins Company and the Town’s 
Marketing and Branding Project.  

 
b. ZEO Report – The ZEO Report was distributed to the Commission electronically prior to the 

meeting. Mr. Pade requested guidance from the Commission regarding a recently submitted 
application for 280 Albany Turnpike, along with an anonymous complaint that was received 
pertaining to 550 Cherry Brook Road. After some deliberation, it was determined that the Zoning 
Enforcement Officer shall move forward with a Notice of Violation for 550 Cherry Brook Road. 
The Commission also requested that the Town Attorney provide insight regarding the regulations 
around the expansion of non-conforming uses/structures, as it pertains to the application for 280 
Albany Turnpike.  

 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
MOTION: Mr. Evens moved to adjourn the meeting at 9:58 p.m. Mr. Freeman seconded the motion, 
which passed unanimously.  

















   

TOWN OF CANTON  
LAND USE OFFICE   

4 Market Street, Collinsville, Connecticut  06022 

 
 

ZEO Report, February 17, 2016 
Permits Granted since January 19, 2016 

 

# Street Permit Dated Issued  

27 Shallot Meadow ZONPERM 1/21/16 New SFH 

135 Albany Turnpike SIGN 1/27/16 Temporary Sign Permit at Ethan Allen  

     

 
SFH – Single Family Home 
ZONPERM – Zoning Permit 
HOME OCC – Home Occupation 
IWWA AA – Inland Wetlands 
Authorized Agent 

SIGN – Sign 
LIQUOR – Liquor 
MSPM – Minor Site Plan 
Modification 
SP – Special Permit 

CERTCOM – Zoning Certificate of 
Compliance 

 
  Inspections since January 19, 2016 

 

# Street First Visit Last Visit # Visits Reason 

52 High Valley 12/23/2015 12/23/2015 1 Inspection of potential wetlands before tree removal 

72 Lawton Road 11/24/2015 2/10/2016 6 Complaint regarding alleged junkyard 

26 Andrew Drive 12/3/2015 2/10/2016 7 Complaint regarding unregistered vehicle 

 Shallot Meadow  1/20/2016 2/10/2016 2 Regarding wetlands complaint  

188 Bahre Corner Rd 2/4/16 2/4/2016 1 Regarding wetlands complaint 

9 Garrett Road 2/17/2016 2/17/2016 1 CO Inspection for SFH 

 
  Enforcement Action/Attention since January 19, 2015 

 

# Street Form Date Issued Reason 

550 Cherry Brook Road NOV 2/1/2016 NOV for storage of vehicles  

26 Andrew Drive C&D 1/20/2016 Cease and Desist for unregistered car on front lawn  

 
  
SFH – Single Family Home  
NOV – Notice of Violation  

OOV – Observation of Violation
  

C&D – Cease and Desist 
COMPL – Complaint 

 
ZEO LOG 

All activity since January 19, 2016 
 

Phone Calls – 30 
Emails – 63 

Counter Assistance – 9 
Temporary Signage Removed Since September 1, 2015 

52 


	Agenda
	File #379; Apln #1559
	File #193; Apln #1571
	File #140; Apln #1574
	File #8; Apln #1575
	File #543; 177 Robin Drive
	Pre-Application Review; 50 Old River Road
	1-19-16 Meeting Minutes

